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REPORT OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON UNIFORM LEGISLATION AND STATUTES
REVIEW
IN RELATION TO THE

SENTENCE ADMINISTRATION (INTERSTATE TRANSFER OF COMMUNITY BASED
SENTENCES) BILL 2007

1

REFERENCE AND PROCEDURE

1.1

The Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences)
Bill 2007 (Bill) was introduced into the Legislative Council on 10 April 2008 by Hon
Jon Ford MLC, Minister for Employment Protection representing the Minister for
Corrective Services (Minister).

1.2

Following its Second Reading by the Minister, the Bill stood referred to this
Committee pursuant to Standing Order 230A, as it ratifies or gives effect to a bilateral
or multilateral intergovernmental agreement to which the Government of the State is a
party.

1.3

The Committee is required to report to the Legislative Council on its inquiry into the
Bill pursuant to Standing Order 230A(4) which reads:
The Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review Committee, or other
committee, receiving a Bill under subclause (3) is to present its final
report not later than 30 days of the day of the reference (exclusive of
the referral day) or such other period as may be ordered by the
House.

1.4

On 8 May 2008 the Legislative Council granted the Committee an extension of the
reporting date on the Bill from 13 May 2008 to 29 May 2008.

2

INQUIRY PROCEDURE

2.1

The Committee’s inquiry into the Bill proceeded by way of a hearing on 29 April
2008 with Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate

Transfers, Department of Corrective Services.
2.2

The Committee is grateful to Mrs Townsend for her attendance and the assistance
provided by her to the Committee. A transcript of the hearing is provided at
Appendix 1.
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3

UNIFORM LEGISLATION

3.1

National legislative schemes implementing uniform legislation take a variety of forms.
Nine different structures, each with a varying degree of emphasis on national
consistency or uniformity of laws and adaptability, have been identified. The
structures are summarised in Appendix 2. The Bill most closely resembles the
legislative structures referred to as ‘Structure 2’ and ‘Structure 6’, with Western
Australia implementing a nationally agreed legislative framework.

3.2

When examining uniform legislation, the Committee considers what are known as
‘fundamental legislative scrutiny principles’. Although not formally adopted by the
Legislative Council as part of the Committee’s terms of reference, the Committee
applies the principles as a convenient framework for the scrutiny of uniform
legislation.1 These principles are set out in Appendix 3.

4

BACKGROUND TO THE BILL

4.1

Community based sentences may be issued for a range of offences, with relatively
minor offences being dealt with by a conditional release order or community based
order, and increasingly more serious offences being dealt with by intensive
supervision orders and conditional suspended prison orders.2

4.2

The Committee was advised that the ability for an offender to transfer a community
based sentence between jurisdictions within Australia can improve the family and
community support for the offender and improve chances of employment or study
opportunities, and in the long run divert the offender away from prison systems and
towards successful integration into the community.3

4.3

The following evidence was received by the Committee regarding the current
arrangements for the transfer of community based sentences to and from Western
Australia:
The CHAIRMAN: … If someone was sentenced to a community
based order in New South Wales, to use the example you gave—let us
say it was 100 hours of community service—and the person simply
left New South Wales to come to Western Australia without reference

1

For further background on fundamental legislative principles can be found in a report by the predecessor
Committee, the Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and General Purposes. Refer to Western
Australia, Legislative Council, Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and General Purposes,
Report 23, The Work of the Committee During the Second Session of the Thirty-Sixth Parliament - August
13 2002 to November 16 2004, November 2004, pp4-9.

2

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p8.

3

Information provided by the Department of Corrective Services, 18 April 2008, p2.

4
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to the authorities there or here, what would currently be the
consequences for that person of doing that?
Mrs Townsend: For a start, we would not even know about it. If the
person came here without getting permission to come here and be
supervised—perhaps if I explain how it works, it would clarify things
for the committee. Right now, if somebody wants to come to Western
Australia from New South Wales to, say, join his family, New South
Wales will contact me and tell me the circumstances, the reasons for
the move and the address the person wants to move to. New South
Wales will furnish me with a court order, court record, reports—
everything relating to the offender. I will then request a report or a
home assessment for that offender. Say the offender wants to live in
Fremantle; I will get the Fremantle office to furnish me with a report
including a recommendation as to whether this person should be
accepted for supervision in Western Australia. If that is all right, we
will say to New South Wales, “Yes, he can come here; we have
approved it,” so this person will come over. That is called a transfer
of supervision; we accept supervision. Anyone with community
service hours outstanding will not be accepted. They have to finish
their community hours before they can think about transferring for
supervision.
The CHAIRMAN: To take my hypothetical example, 100 hours
would have to have been served in New South Wales.
Mrs Townsend: That is correct.
The CHAIRMAN: What other conditions might there remain in that
person’s community based order?
Mrs Townsend: There could be a program to attend—alcohol
counselling, for example. In that situation, if the person had not
commenced the program in New South Wales, or he is halfway
through the program, we can still accept him, and he can attend
counselling here. When we consider transfer of supervision for
offenders, we also consider the likelihood of reoffending. If they are
without support in the other state and their family lives in Western
Australia, having community support and family reduces the
likelihood of reoffending. We take the total picture into account.
Sometimes we may insist that they have to complete a certain portion
of the program before they come here, especially if their response has
not been very good in their own state. We want to see some progress
before they come here.
G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.sen.080516.rpf.029.xx.a.doc
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The CHAIRMAN: For example, if it was anger management or some
other counselling of that sort, you would want to see some progress
before accepting them here, because otherwise they would be more of
a threat to Western Australians.
Mrs Townsend: Exactly. We want to see that they are responding. If a
person who had not been reporting and who had been doing all the
wrong things wanted to come here, we would say no.
The CHAIRMAN: Are you able to give an indication of how many
applications have been made, and of those, how many have been
successful?
Mrs Townsend: It is only since 2006 that we have taken statistics. In
2006 there were 32 people coming into Western Australia and there
were 13 going out. In 2007, there were again 32 coming in and 19
going out. Those are the figures; they are not very high.
The CHAIRMAN: They were the ones who were actually accepted
and progressed.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
…
Hon SHEILA MILLS: If you accept these people over here, is there
any transfer of resources from the originating state to Western
Australia to accommodate these people under our particular
department, given what I have been reading lately about the resource
implications that corrective services is already having with
supervision?
Mrs Townsend: Not that I know of. The situation is this: we are
benefiting from a reciprocity of services. Our people go to Victoria,
say, and we provide services for the people transferred here whom we
have accepted, and they give services to our people who have gone
there. No; to my knowledge, there is no transfer of resources.4
4.4

The Committee was advised that:
Currently, if an offender breaches a [community based sentence]
while in the new jurisdiction, he or she remains the responsibility of
the original jurisdiction. This limits the opportunities for enforcement

4

6

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, pp4-5.
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action against the offender and returning the offender to the original
jurisdiction, if he or she does not voluntarily return, will cost
significant time, effort and money.5
4.5

Mrs Townsend advised the Committee that:
Right now, for example, if a person comes over from New South
Wales and arrangements have been agreed upon, and the person
initially responds appropriately but later breaches the arrangements,
unless the person returns to New South Wales, he will not be taken to
task about it. We cannot do anything in Western Australia because the
order has not been formally transferred here. We cannot formally
breach the person. Unless New South Wales issues extradition orders,
the person will not go back to New South Wales or will not be picked
up.6

4.6

The Bill is proposed to allow the receiving jurisdiction to manage an offender’s
community based sentence as if a court of the receiving jurisdiction had imposed the
sentence. Breaches of the community based sentence by the offender can then be
dealt with by the courts of the receiving jurisdiction.7

4.7

In the course of the Second Reading address on the Bill, the Minister stated that:
This bill provides for Western Australia’s participation in the formal
transfer and enforcement of community-based sentences between
Australian jurisdictions. Community-based sentences, imposed as an
alternative to imprisonment, are sentences that are served within the
community and can be supervised and administered in the local
jurisdiction. Community-based sentences in Western Australia are
defined as community-based orders, intensive supervision orders,
conditional release orders and conditional suspended imprisonment
orders. Currently, if an offender breaches a community-based
sentence while in a new jurisdiction, he or she remains accountable to
the original sentencing jurisdiction. This situation is less than ideal
because it limits the opportunities for enforcement action in the case
of offenders who do not comply with their sentence, and extradition
procedures are required to return offenders to their original
jurisdictions if they do not return of their own volition, which can
involve the expenditure of significant time, money and effort.

5

Information provided by the Department of Corrective Services, 18 April 2008, p2.

6

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, pp3-4.

7

Information provided by the Department of Corrective Services, 18 April 2008, p2.
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In 2000 the Australian Capital Territory Corrective Services was
given the task of drafting model legislation for this purpose and the
Community Based Sentences (Transfer) Act 2003 was passed by the
Australian Capital Territory Legislative Assembly on 20 February
2003. This act provides model legislation for implementation in all
Australian states and territories. It was trialled between New South
Wales and the Australian Capital Territory to establish suitable
administrative processes for the efficient running of the formal
arrangements. Following an evaluation of the new arrangements and
subsequent discussion and agreement by the jurisdictions, similar
legislation is now being enacted in each Australian state and
territory. 8
5

THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT

5.1

The Committee was advised that the relevant intergovernmental agreement giving rise
to this Bill is the following June 2007 resolution of the Ministerial Council of
Corrective Services Ministers:
That those jurisdictions that have not yet done so, commence
proceedings to enact model legislation to allow for the interstate
transfer of community based sentences.9

5.2

The relevant model legislation is the Crimes (Sentence Administration) Act 2005
(ACT) and the Crimes (Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences) Act 2004
No 72 (NSW). The Committee was advised that the remaining Australian
jurisdictions have yet to enact the legislation.10

5.3

The Committee was advised that no timetable exists for the implementation of the
agreed amendments, but that all jurisdictions were asked to implement the legislation
as soon as practicable.11

6

OVERVIEW OF THE BILL

6.1

The Minister stated the following in his Second Reading speech:
I move now to the detail of the bill. The provisions in the bill will
apply to sentences imposed on adults. This is because many

8

Hon Jon Ford MLC, Minister for Employment Protection representing the Minister for Corrective
Services, Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), 10 April 2008,
pp2146-2147.

9

Information provided by the Department of Corrective Services, 18 April 2008, p1.

10

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p9.

11

Information provided by the Department of Corrective Services, 18 April 2008, p1.
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jurisdictions, including Western Australia, have separate legislative,
administrative and judicial regimes for adults and juveniles. To
provide for a single piece of legislation covering both distinct regimes
would be administratively inefficient. Under the formal arrangements
created by the bill, an offender with a community-based sentence in
Western Australia will be able to transfer the supervision and
administration of the sentence to a new jurisdiction on a voluntary
basis, provided certain requirements are satisfied. The offender will
then be managed in the new jurisdiction as though a court of the new
jurisdiction had imposed the sentence, except for the purposes of
appeal or review, which will remain the responsibility of the
originating jurisdiction.
The formal arrangements will operate in much the same way as those
established by the Prisoners (Interstate Transfer) Act 1983 and
related interstate legislation. The bill will not apply to certain types of
sentences that may be served in the community—namely, parole
orders; sentences to the extent that they impose fines or other
financial penalties; and sentences to the extent that they require the
making of reparations. The bill also does not apply to orders that
have no requirement for supervision, such as good behaviour orders.
Interstate authorities that will administer the legislation will have a
designated local authority for that jurisdiction. Having one local
authority for each jurisdiction will ensure that there is a single
communication point between an offender and the supervising
authority, establishing clear communication procedures and
practices. The bill provides that the local authority is to be the
Commissioner of Corrective Services, who will process requests for
transfer of sentences into and out of Western Australia. Details of the
transferred sentences will be recorded and maintained on a register.
The local authority will make decisions on the basis of information
sent by the relevant interstate authority regarding the offender and
sentence, provided specific criteria are satisfied. The criteria that the
local authority will apply when deciding whether to accept a request
for transfer are that the offender has consented to the order and has
not withdrawn that consent; there is a sentence in Western Australia
that corresponds to the sentence imposed in the interstate
jurisdiction; the offender can comply with the sentence in Western
Australia; and the sentence can be safely, efficiently, and effectively
administered in Western Australia. The local authority will be able to
refuse a request for transfer if the criteria are not met, or otherwise at
the local authority’s discretion. This will be particularly relevant in a
case when the local authority becomes aware of concerns expressed
G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.sen.080516.rpf.029.xx.a.doc
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by an individual for his or her safety if the offender were to reside in
Western Australia. Discretion may also be exercised in a case when
an offender poses an unacceptable administrative burden to Western
Australia because the offender has a history of not complying with
directions issued by a supervising officer.
If deciding to accept a request for transfer, the local authority may
choose to register the sentence, decline to register the sentence or
require the offender to meet certain preconditions before registering
the sentence. Imposing preconditions provides a means for the local
authority to confirm the offender’s ability and willingness to comply
with the sentence in Western Australia before registration and formal
transfer occurs. A precondition may include the offender satisfying
the local authority before a stated time that the offender is living in
Western Australia, or that the offender is reporting to a stated person
in Western Australia at a stated time and place. If the local authority
decides to accept the request for transfer and registers the sentence,
the offender will be supervised and administered by Community
Justice Services, as though the sentence had been imposed in Western
Australia.
The administration of a sentence includes administering a breach of
the sentence. Therefore, if the offender does not comply with the
conditions of a transfer order, he or she may be re-sentenced by a
Western Australian court according to the laws of this state. The
Western Australian court may, however, refer to the penalty range
and type that would have been applicable in the original jurisdiction,
so as to ensure that the transfer does not serve to avoid the sentencing
intentions of the original jurisdiction.
Registration of the sentence does not affect an offender’s right to seek
an appeal or review of the conviction or finding of guilt, or the
imposition of a sentence, in the original jurisdiction. As a matter of
practicality, if the offender seeks an appeal or amendment of the
conviction or sentence, or the sentence relating to the conviction, the
appeal will be made in the original jurisdiction and not to a Western
Australian court, even though Western Australia is the jurisdiction
supervising and administering the transferred sentence. In the case
that an appeal or request for amendment of sentence is successful, the
amended sentence will be administered and supervised in Western
Australia as though a Western Australian court had upheld the appeal
or made the amendment. It would be contrary to natural justice to
prevent an offender from seeking an appeal or review of their

10
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conviction or sentence by virtue of registration in a jurisdiction other
than the original jurisdiction.
There are many reasons why offenders may wish to transfer to a new
jurisdiction. Notable reasons may be proximity to improved family
and community support, or the prospect of increased choice of
employment or study opportunities. Allowing a transfer to a
jurisdiction in which the offender has good support will increase the
probability of the offender fulfilling the order, being positively reintegrated back into the community and being diverted from returning
to the prison system.12
6.2

The Committee notes that neither the current practice nor the Bill addresses the
problem of offenders moving between jurisdictions without having completed their
community based sentence and not registering in the jurisdiction that they have
relocated to:
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: You have been talking about a situation
in which you are aware, from the other jurisdiction, that a person
wants to move to WA and you know all the particulars. Obviously, as
we mentioned at the beginning, there are circumstances in which an
offender will just come over here without advising the New South
Wales authorities that that is what he is intending to do. If by chance
the offender, on arriving here in WA, breaks the law or does
something like that, will you still be able to deal with him under this
legislation even though he is not registered here, or would you have
to take him back to the jurisdiction because you have not actually
agreed to him being here? What would be the circumstances in that
situation?
Mrs Townsend: If he is not registered, and he belongs to, say, New
South Wales–as in, the order originates from there–there is not much
that Western Australia can do because the court order is not
registered here. We cannot breach that person. For a start, we would
not even know that that person had come over here with a court order
because New South Wales would not have asked us about that person
transferring here.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: I suppose I want to determine what the
outcome for those people will be if they break the law here? If they

12

Hon Jon Ford MLC, Minister for Employment Protection representing the Minister for Corrective
Services, Western Australia, Legislative Council, Parliamentary Debates (Hansard), 10 April 2008,
pp2146-2147.
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are under an order, even with this new legislation, will you not be
able to do anything with them?
Mrs Townsend: Because they would not be registered. From what I
have been reading, the registration requires the consent of the
offender. Yes, that is the situation.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: What would you do?
Mrs Townsend: It is not different from the current situation, except
that the registration and this legislation will capture the majority of
transferred community-based order offenders.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: However, it will not capture those who
are –
Hon SHEILA MILLS: Doing a runner.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: –doing a runner, which is unfortunate?
Mrs Townsend: We are not capturing them now.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: No.
Mrs Townsend: I suppose we can make a parallel here. Let us say
that it has nothing to do with court orders. If a person commits an
offence in New South Wales and he comes to Western Australia, there
is not much the police can do unless there is an extradition.13
6.3

The Committee notes that the Bill deals with adult community based sentences.
Although some juveniles aged 17 may be subject to an adult community based order
under s 50A of the Young Offenders Act 1994, the Bill is not intended to deal with the
transfer of the community based sentences of juvenile offenders. The Committee was
advised that there are no immediate plans for the Government to legislate for the
transfer of the community based sentences of juvenile offenders.14

7

SELECTED CLAUSES OF THE BILL

7.1

The Bill has 31 clauses, and provides for regulations to be made prescribing any
matters that are necessary or convenient to give effect to the Bill. The following
provisions are highlighted:

13

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, pp5-6.

14

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p9.
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Long Title
7.2

The long title states that the Bill is for:
An Act relating to the interstate transfer of community based orders,
and for other purposes.

7.3

The Committee notes that “community based orders” are merely one of a number of
different types of sentences that are covered by the definition of “community based
sentence” in clause 7 of the Bill.

Clause 2
7.4

Different provisions of the Bill may commence on different days by way of
proclamation.

Clause 3
7.5

This clause sets out the purpose of the Bill as being:
… to allow community based sentences imposed in participating
jurisdictions to be transferred, by registration, between participating
jurisdictions.

Clause 4
7.6

This clause sets out the limits of the Bill. The Bill only applies to community based
sentences imposed by courts on adults (or 17 year olds under s 50A of the Young
Offenders Act 1994). The Bill also does not apply to:
(a) a parole order; or
(b) a sentence to the extent that it imposes a fine or other financial
penalty (however described); or
(c) a sentence to the extent that it requires the making of reparation
(however described).

Clause 6
7.7

Notes in the Bill do not form part of the Bill.

Clause 7
7.8

This clause defines a “community based sentence” as:
(a)

for this jurisdiction, any of the following —

G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.sen.080516.rpf.029.xx.a.doc
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(b)

(i)

a community based order made under the Sentencing
Act 1995 Part 9;

(ii)

an intensive supervision order made under the
Sentencing Act 1995 Part 10;

(iii)

a conditional suspended imprisonment order made
under the Sentencing Act 1995 Part 12 Division 1;

for an interstate jurisdiction — a sentence that is a
community based sentence under the corresponding law of
the jurisdiction.

Clause 8
7.9

All Australian States and Territories participating in the legislation will be prescribed
in regulations.

Clauses 12 and 13
7.10

The Chief Executive Officer of the Department of Corrective Services is the “local
authority” for the purposes of the Bill. Under clause 13 the Chief Executive Officer
may delegate the exercise of any function under any other clause to a public service
officer employed in the Department.

Clauses 14 to 24
7.11

These clauses deal with the registration in Western Australia of community based
sentences issued to offenders by courts in other participating jurisdictions.

7.12

Clause 19 sets out the criteria for registration as:

7.13

14

(a)

the offender has consented to the sentence being registered in
this jurisdiction and has not withdrawn the consent; and

(b)

there is a corresponding community based sentence under the
law of this jurisdiction; and

(c)

the offender can comply with the sentence in this jurisdiction;
and

(d)

the sentence can be safely, efficiently and effectively
administered in this jurisdiction.

Clause 24 sets out the general effect of registration as:

G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.sen.080516.rpf.029.xx.a.doc
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(1) If the interstate sentence is registered in this jurisdiction, the
following provisions apply —

7.14

(a)

the sentence becomes a community based sentence in
force in this jurisdiction, and ceases to be a
community based sentence in force in the interstate
jurisdiction;

(b)

the sentence is taken to have been validly imposed by
the appropriate court of this jurisdiction;

(c)

the sentence continues to apply to the offender in
accordance with its terms despite anything to the
contrary under the law of this jurisdiction;

(d)

the offence (the “relevant offence”) for which the
sentence was imposed on the offender is taken to be
an offence against the law of this jurisdiction, and not
an offence against the law of the originating
jurisdiction;

(e)

the penalty for the relevant offence is taken to be the
relevant penalty for the offence under the law of the
originating jurisdiction, and not the penalty for an
offence of that kind (if any) under the law of this
jurisdiction;

(f)

any part of the sentence served in an interstate
jurisdiction before its registration is taken to have
been served in this jurisdiction;

(g)

the offender may be dealt with in this jurisdiction for
a breach of the sentence, whether the breach
happened before, or happens after, the registration of
the sentence;

(h)

the law of this jurisdiction applies to the sentence and
any breach of it with the changes (if any) prescribed
by the regulations.

Under clause 24 the offender is still required to pursue any right of appeal he/she
wishes to take in relation to the conviction, finding of guilt or community based
sentence in the jurisdiction in which it was imposed.
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Clauses 25 to 27
7.15

These clauses deal with the registration of community based sentences issued in
Western Australia in interstate jurisdictions. Interestingly, clause 27(3) states that:
To remove any doubt, this section does not prevent the local sentence
from later being registered in this jurisdiction.

7.16

This provision indicates that a community based sentence issued by a Western
Australian court can be transferred back to Western Australia under the provisions of
the Bill after having been transferred for a period to another jurisdiction.

Clauses 28 to 29
7.17

These clauses deal with the accuracy, evidential status and the procedures for
correcting errors, in the register of transferred community based sentences in each
jurisdiction.

8

AMENDMENTS TO THE BILL

8.1

The Committee was advised that the Government did not propose to put forward any
amendments to the Bill in the Legislative Council.15

9

IS THE BILL CONSISTENT WITH THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT?

9.1

In light of the foregoing, the Committee makes the following finding:

Finding
The Committee finds that the Sentence Administration (Interstate Transfer of Community
Based Sentences) Bill 2007 is consistent with the agreement of the Ministerial Council of
Corrective Services Ministers.
9.2

The Committee commends its report to the House for consideration.

__________________________
Hon Simon O’Brien MLC
Chairman
27 May 2008
15

16

Mrs May Townsend, Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers, Department of Corrective
Services, Transcript of Evidence, 29 April 2008, p9.
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Hearing commenced at 9.51 am
TOWNSEND, MRS MAY
Manager, Commonwealth Parole and Interstate Transfers,
Department of Corrective Services,
sworn and examined:
KENWORTHY, MS ALMA
Manager, Sentence Management,
Department of Corrective Services,
sworn and examined:

The CHAIRMAN: On behalf of the committee I welcome you to our hearing this morning.
[Witnesses took the oath.]
The CHAIRMAN: I ask the witnesses to state the capacity in which they appear before the
committee.
Mrs Townsend: I am the manager for commonwealth parole and interstate transfers in the
Department of Corrective Services.
Ms Kenworthy: I am the manager of sentence management in the Department of Corrective
Services.
The CHAIRMAN: You will have signed a document entitled "Information for Witnesses". Have
you read and understood that document?
The Witnesses: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. These proceedings are being recorded by Hansard. A transcript of
your evidence will be provided to you. To assist the committee and Hansard please quote the full
title of any document that you refer to during the course of this hearing for the record. The hearing
is also being recorded so you need to speak into the microphones please, and try not to cover them
with any papers. I remind you that your transcript will become a matter for the public record. If for
some reason you wish to make a confidential statement during today's proceedings you should
request that the evidence be taken in closed session. If the committee grants your request, any
public and media in attendance will be excluded from the hearing. Please note that until such time
as the transcript of your public evidence has been finalised, it should not be made public. I advise
you that premature pUblication or disclosure of public evidence may constitute a contempt of
Parliament and may mean that the material published or disclosed is not subject to parliamentary
privilege.
Weare dealing with two bills in this morning's hearing. The first is the Prisoners (Interstate
Transfer) Amendment Bill 2007.
Ms Kenworthy, can you make an opening statement or give us an overview of the general purpose
of the bill?
Ms Kenworthy: My understanding of the amendments to the legislation is that they are for the
benefit of clarification and expansion on appropriate points of consideration for the ministers in
either of the jurisdictions where the prisoner may be from or being transferred to. It hopes to, I
guess, enhance the current legislation's format and make it more obvious that considerations other
than welfare need to be taken into account.
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The CHAIRMAN: Was this amending bill prompted by the unsuccessful argument by a prisoner in
the Federal Court case, Attorney General for the Australian Capital Territory v Heiss?
Ms Kenworthy: I am not actually aware of that case, sir, no.
The CHAIRMAN: Has it been the past or is it the current practice in Western Australia that a
prisoner's welfare is the sole factor relevant to an interstate prisoner transfer?
Ms Kenworthy: Not to my knowledge. I have been in this position for more than a year now, and
my predecessor's instructions have come along with that position, and it has always been that we
have taken into consideration numerous aspects of a prisoner's incarceration in this state or the
other state - everything from their behaviour, what their sentence translation will be in either
jurisdiction, their programs and their community support. It is quite broad ranging covering
everything from their psychological state and medical condition, so it is definitely not about only
the welfare. However, at the same time, all those aspects can come down to that as well.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Obviously, we are talking about the prisoner in this instance.
Currently does the relevant minister take into account, for example, the fact that the family lives in
another jurisdiction and mum is very ill or something like that, and the prisoner wants to return to
his or her original home state?
Ms Kenworthy: All those factors are presented. What the minister makes the decision on is, of
course, up to the minister. Everything is presented and that is considered certainly by me in
preparing documentation as part of the welfare of the prisoner. It comes down to the mental
condition in that regard.
The CHAIRMAN: Proposed new section 8A, for example, will permit the minister to have regard
to a range of matters, including the welfare of the prisoner or person concerned such as the security
and good order of any prison in this or any other state, the safe custody of the prisoner or person
concerned, the protection of the community, the administration of justice and so on. Are they the
sorts of things the minister currently has regard for as well?
Ms Kenworthy: We would certainly brief the minister on those issues - whatever is relevant. It is
just not clarified as clearly as it is in the new amendment. I believe it also enables a little more
leeway on the state receiving the prisoner to actually give greater regard to this other than just the
welfare conditions.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Both ministers have to agree, do they not?
Ms Kenworthy: They do. It cannot be done without general written agreement.
The CHAIRMAN: I understand that you were going to be joined at the table this morning by
another policy advisor and that person was not able to make it.
Ms Kenworthy: I was not aware that they had asked that but I did ask whether that person was also
going to be in attendance, and was told there was no requirement for that. I understand she is away
today.
The CHAIRMAN: I asked the question simply for the record - that is, if another policy officer or
an instructing officer may be required to assist us but is not able to be here today, you may wish to
take on notice one or two of these subsequent questions and we will get a response in writing later
on, rather than put you on the spot of having to speculate.
Ms Kenworthy: Okay, thank you.
[10.00 am]

The CHAIRMAN: I will just put this question: firstly, what consultation took place with
stakeholders with regard to the legislation before it was introduced into Parliament?
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Ms Kenworthy: I am aware that the Corrective Services Ministers' Council put the resolution
forward; I am not aware of what other consultation occurred. My knowledge of the new legislation
coming in began in about October or November of 2007, and it was pretty well drafted by then.
That is my first knowledge of that, and perhaps the policy officer may be able to provide further
advice about that.
The CHAIRMAN: My next question is: does the government propose to make any amendments to
the bill that has been placed before the house?
Ms Kenworthy: Not to my knowledge-again, unless the policy officer knows otherwise.
The CHAIRMAN: Okay. It is a pretty brief bill, dealing with a single dimension.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Which other jurisdictions have adopted this legislation? Are we the
first?
Ms Kenworthy: No, we are definitely not. The Tasmanian and Northern Territory governments
have legislation in a similar format to ours. All the other states have adopted the new legislation.
The one difference is the Australian Capital Territory legislation, which has marginally different
wording, but it has a slightly different transfer issue in that New South Wales holds many of the
ACT's prisoners, so therefore it has slightly different wording. It appears to be more about suiting
its situation rather than being any great difference to the new wording.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: What about the commonwealth? It obviously deals with federal
prisoners.
Ms Kenworthy: Yes, it has welfare areas within its legislation that basically provide for looking at
the same aspects.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: It already has that?
Ms Kenworthy: Yes, it is already in the commonwealth legislation.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Okay. It does not need to make changes?
Ms Kenworthy: No, it already considers welfare provisions, and there is the ability under this
legislation to effect a joint transfer of prisoners; all it requires is commonwealth agreement.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Okay; that is interesting.
The CHAIRMAN: Noting what you have been able to tell the committee, together with the
information we have received from Commissioner Ian Johnson in response to our written questions,
I do not think we have any other questions about this bill at this time. Are there any other
observations you want to make?
Ms Kenworthy: No. I think it is an added benefit to the legislation we have, and provides some
clarity around what we currently do.
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you for that. Let us move on now to the Sentence Administration
(Interstate Transfer of Community Based Sentences) Bill 2007. Ms Townsend, I wonder whether
you could provide a brief overview of the purpose ofthe bill for the committee, please?
Mrs Townsend: Primarily it is to formalise what is already happening and has been happening for
years-that is, formalising it in terms of having legislation enabling interstate court orders to be
registered in Western Australia. Once they are registered in Western Australia, we have the ability
to breach these people if they do something wrong, whether by reoffending, by not reporting or by
whichever condition. Ultimately it enhances community safety. We do not have interstate
transferees in this state who have breached, and we cannot do anything about it. Right now, for
example, if a person comes over from New South Wales and arrangements have been agreed upon,
and the person initially responds appropriately but later breaches the arrangements, unless the
person returns to New South Wales, he will not be taken to task about it. We cannot do anything in
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Western Australia because the order has not been formally transferred here. We cannot formally
breach the person. Unless New South Wales issues extradition orders, the person will not go back to
New South Wales or will not be picked up. To my mind, the bill primarily and ultimately enhances
community safety. That is the brief overview.
The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. It is an interesting subject. I want to clarify a few things for the
benefit of members reviewing the transcript. If someone was sentenced to a community based order
in New South Wales, to use the example you gave-let us say it was lOO hours of community
service-and the person simply left New South Wales to come to Western Australia without
reference to the authorities there or here, what would currently be the consequences for that person
of doing that?

Mrs Townsend: For a start, we would not even know about it. If the person came here without
getting permission to come here and be supervised-perhaps if I explain how it works, it would
clarify things for the committee. Right now, if somebody wants to come to Western Australia from
New South Wales to, say, join his family, New South Wales will contact me and tell me the
circumstances, the reasons for the move and the address the person wants to move to. New South
Wales will furnish me with a court order, court record, reports-everything relating to the offender.
I will then request a report or a home assessment for that offender. Say the offender wants to live in
Fremantle; I will get the Fremantle office to furnish me with a report including a recommendation
as to whether this person should be accepted for supervision in Western Australia. If that is all right,
we will say to New South Wales, "Yes, he can come here; we have approved it," so this person will
come over. That is called a transfer of supervision; we accept supervision. Anyone with community
service hours outstanding will not be accepted. They have to finish their community hours before
they can think about transferring for supervision.
The CHAIRMAN: To take my hypothetical example, 100 hours would have to have been served in
New South Wales.

Mrs Townsend: That is correct.
The CHAIRMAN: What other conditions might there remain in that person's community based
order?

Mrs Townsend: There could be a program to attend-alcohol counselling, for example. In that
situation, if the person had not commenced the program in New South Wales, or he is halfway
through the program, we can still accept him, and he can attend counselling here. When we consider
transfer of supervision for offenders, we also consider the likelihood of reoffending. If they are
without support in the other state and their family lives in Western Australia, having community
support and family reduces the likelihood of reoffending. We take the total picture into account.
Sometimes we may insist that they have to complete a certain portion of the program before they
come here, especially if their response has not been very good in their own state. We want to see
some progress before they come here.
The CHAIRMAN: For example, if it was anger management or some other counselling of that
sort, you would want to see some progress before accepting them here, because otherwise they
would be more of a threat to Western Australians.

Mrs Townsend: Exactly. We want to see that they are responding. If a person who had not been
reporting and who had been doing all the wrong things wanted to come here, we would say no.
The CHAIRMAN: Are you able to give an indication of how many applications have been made,
and of those, how many have been successful?

Mrs Townsend: It is only since 2006 that we have taken statistics. In 2006 there were 32 people
coming into Western Australia and there were 13 going out. In 2007, there were again 32 coming in
and 19 going out. Those are the figures; they are not very high.

G:\DATA\US\Usrp\us.sen.080516.rpf.029.xx.a.doc

23

Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review Committee
Uniform Legislation and Statutes Review

Tuesday, 29 April 2008

Session One

Page 5

The CHAIRMAN: They were the ones who were actually accepted and progressed.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: How many unsuccessful applications were there, would you know?

[10.10 am]
Mrs Townsend: I cannot account for that. I have also just taken over this position since late
January, so, no, I do not know.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: If you accept these people over here, is there any transfer of resources from
the originating state to Western Australia to accommodate these people under our particular
department, given what I have been reading lately about the resource implications that corrective
services is already having with supervision?
Mrs Townsend: Not that I know of. The situation is this: we are benefiting from a reciprocity of
services. Our people go to Victoria, say, and we provide services for the people transferred here
whom we have accepted, and they give services to our people who have gone there. No; to my
knowledge, there is no transfer of resources.
The CHAIRMAN: Ifwe quantify that, 32 prisoners came in, say, in 2007 and 19 went out, so we
were a net importer in that year. To put that in perspective, how many people in Western Australia
in total would be on community-based orders and under the supervision of the department? It would
be vastly more than that 32 or 19, would it not?
Mrs Townsend: Vastly.
The CHAIRMAN: What sort of numbers are we talking about, Ms Townsend?
Mrs Townsend: I am sorry; I cannot really answer that question. I have not looked into that.
The CHAIRMAN: Would it be hundreds?
Mrs Townsend: Thousands I would say.
The CHAIRMAN: Thousands? Okay. Would you say that the disparity is a drop in the ocean?
Mrs Townsend: Yes, I would say so. Plus, with our boom in Western Australia, we can expect
more people to want to come here than to leave.
The CHAIRMAN: Do different subjects of the community-based orders have widely different
resource needs? Are some much more difficult and labour intensive to supervise than others?
Mrs Townsend: Yes, they are; for example, a mentally ill person who is coming back to join the
family would make use of our mental health services and would probably require more of our own
services as well. However, that is across the board. It is not necessarily for transferred offenders; it
could be offenders in Western Australia as well.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: You have been talking about a situation in which you are aware, from
the other jurisdicti6n, that a person wants to move to W A and you know all the particulars.
Obviously, as we mentioned at the beginning, there are circumstances in which an offender will just
come over here without advising the New South Wales authorities that that is what he is intending
to do. Ifby chance the offender, on arriving here in WA, breaks the law or does something like that,
will you still be able to deal with him under this legislation even though he is not registered here, or
would you have to take him back to the jurisdiction because you have not actually agreed to him
being here? What would be the circumstances in that situation?
Mrs Townsend: Ifhe is not registered, and he belongs to, say, New South Wales-as in, the order
originates from there-there is not much that Western Australia can do because the court order is not
registered here. We cannot breach that person. For a start, we would not even know that that person
had come over here with a court order because New South Wales would not have asked us about
that person transferring here.
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Hon DONNA FARAGHER: I suppose I want to determine what the outcome for those people will
be if they break the law here? If they are under an order, even with this new legislation, will you not
be able to do anything with them?
Mrs Townsend: Because they would not be registered. From what I have been reading, the
registration requires the consent of the offender. Yes, that is the situation.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: What would you do?
Mrs Townsend: It is not different from the current situation, except that the registration and this
legislation will capture the majority of transferred community-based order offenders.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: However, it will not capture those who are Hon SHEILA MILLS: Doing a runner.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: -doing a runner, which is unfortunate?
Mrs Townsend: We are not capturing them now.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: No.
Mrs Townsend: I suppose we can make a parallel here. Let us say that it has nothing to do with
court orders. If a person commits an offence in New South Wales and he comes to Western
Australia, there is not much the police can do unless there is an extradition.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: I suppose that was my next question. In effect, if the person is caught
here and is not registered, the only way that he can be dealt with is via extradition.
Mrs Townsend: The police will have to look into that, yes.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Extradition is the onlyMrs Townsend: Yes.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: Would that be granted only if it were a serious offence?
Mrs Townsend: That is right; yes. You are right to say that, but this bill will formalise the transfer
of the majority of court orders so that we have the ability to breach them when they do something
wrong. At the moment, when people are informally transferred here and we are supervising and
they reoffend or do something wrong, unless they return to New South Wales, there is not much we
can do about it. They float around. This bill allows them to be monitored and registered, allowing us
to take action.
The CHAIRMAN: At this stage, if an offender on a community-based order originates from
Western Australia and breaches the terms of that order in some way, shape or form, will he face
whatever sanctions apply?
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: And that is not going to change?
Mrs Townsend: No.
The CHAIRMAN: If an offender receives a community-based order in, for example, New South
Wales, and disregards that order and comes to Western Australia, he will have to answer, ifhe ever
does answer, to the New South Wales justice system, and that is the same as happens now?
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: The bill actually contemplates-I think it is alluded to in the second reading
speech, and correct me if I am wrong-that limited scenario whereby if one of the 32 imported
community-based offenders from 2007 fails to discharge his obligations under his transferred
community-based order, we here in Western Australia can take some action. Is that correct?
Mrs Townsend: Yes, that is correct.
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The CHAIRMAN: It is a very limited number of people in the vast scheme of things.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: What action would your department take in that event?
Mrs Townsend: I would suggest that he/she would have to go to court, because at the moment if a
person breaches an order, it goes back to court and he is dealt with for the original offence, whether
it is burglary or whatever it may be, so he is given another penalty by the court. Our department
would be in a position of informing the court, saying that this is registered here and these are the
documents. When you say "limited number", it is better than what we are doing now. We cannot do
anything about an informal transferee committing another offence and not returning to New South
Wales.
The CHAIRMAN: I am not trying to downplay it when I say "limited number". I am just trying to
establish the scope, and it is restricted in the case of the people we received in 2007. They
numbered 32, and, of that pool, if any of them breach, we understand that the provisions of this bill
will then apply to that small group of people.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: When a community-based sentence is given, presumably as an alternative via
the court to, say, a prison term, how successful is it in terms of being observed and respected by the
convicted person? Do we have many breaches overall?
Mrs Townsend: I do not have statistics for that.
The CHAIRMAN: I am not asking for specific figures, but, in general terms, are most communitybased orders worked through by the offender?
Mrs Townsend: I would say that most of them are completed. However, when I say "most", I do
not know in what proportion. The majority would be completed, let me put it that way.
[10.20 am]

The CHAIRMAN: When one listens to the news, reports highlight people failing to complete their
orders.
Mrs Townsend: Yes, they do, but you never hear success stories in the news either. I do not know
the exact proportion. I would say that the majority complete their order.
The CHAIRMAN: When someone fails to complete- it might be an incomplete failure to
complete, if that makes sense, or someone is tardy and does not fulfil all of his obligations- is it
correct that the department then has to make a decision on how it responds to that breach? You
would not just go racing off to court, would you?
Mrs Townsend: No. That is the supervision regime we have. There are policies and rules about
when to breach, and senior officers review before breach. It goes to the manager. They are not
breached when they do something wrong to begin with. We look at their overall performance and
the reasons behind their tardiness, their lateness. A person could have rehabilitated from alcoholism
after 30 years and then fail to report on two occasions. We are not going to breach that person if he
has completed a program and has his own reasons - that sort of thing.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: Are all community-based sentences for what we would consider in the
scheme of things to be minor offences?
Mrs Townsend: There are community-based orders, which are for less serious offences than
intensive supervision orders. Then there are conditional suspended imprisonment orders. The latter
would be for the most serious offences.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: This captures all those differentMrs Townsend: Community orders.
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The CHAIRMAN: Would it be possible by supplementary infonnation to get some statistics on
how many of those orders were given by the courts in, say, the last full year for which figures are
available and how many of those were successfully completed?
Mrs Townsend: Yes, that can be provided at a later stage. What you have asked is: in Western
Australia when a court order is made, how many court orders were made in the last year The CHAIRMAN: Community-based orders.
Mrs Townsend: Yes, and how many were breached.
The CHAIRMAN: Yes.
Mrs Townsend: We will have to look at a situation in which the period that we are capturing
allows that person to complete the order, because somebody that was put on an order in January
may not have completed.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: You are looking at a different set of figures.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: Is it possible to divide those into the categories you mentioned?
Mrs Townsend: Yes, I am sure.
The CHAIRMAN: If you take that on notice, it will help infonn the house and will be useful.
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: With respect to the order itself, is there a capacity and is there ever a
need under this new regime, to vary the order if - I think it is highly unlikely - for example, a
prisoner is participating in a program in New South Wales that is not available here in Western
Australia? Is there a capacity in the negotiation of the agreement that the order be varied?
Mrs Townsend: Once we register that, we can amend the orders. Once there is registration, we can
do as we can do with our own orders.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: The registration comes first and then there is a variation?
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
The CHAIRMAN: I have just a couple of other questions of a general nature that we apply in
relation to bills that reflect an intergovernmental agreement. What consultation took place with
stakeholders in respect of this legislation?
Mrs Townsend: I understand from the person who was in my position that in November 2006 there
was a meeting of people in my position of all the jurisdictions and there was an agreement that we
would go back to our states and recommend that such legislation be enacted.
The CHAIRMAN: Are there any other stakeholders, say, in the Western Australian community
that may have had an interest?
Mrs Townsend: To be honest, I do not know who of the other stakeholders have been contacted.
What I have said is what I know.
The CHAIRMAN: I am trying to think of who the other stakeholders might be, but I think perhaps
a community drug service team might be involved in one type of community-based sentence. We
were just wondering if there has been any consultation with those groups about the implications of
the bill. Apart from service providers, that is probably the main one.
Mrs Townsend: I do not know that answer.
The CHAIRMAN: Would you be able to take that on notice and let us know subsequent to this
hearing?
Mrs Townsend: Yes.
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The CHAIRMAN: Thank you. Do you know whether the government proposes to make any
further amendments to the bill that is currently before the house?
Mrs Townsend: Not that I know of; to my knowledge, no.
The CHAIRMAN: Is it proposed that juvenile offenders will be able to transfer their communitybased sentences interstate in the future?
Mrs Townsend: I am not aware of any such moves at this stage.
The CHAIRMAN: Most certainly juveniles are specifically excluded from this bill.
Mrs Townsend: This is an adult bill, yes; that is to say, people on adult orders. Some juveniles17-year -oIds-can be on adult orders.
The CHAIRMAN: My colleague Hon Sheila Mills alluded to staffing and resource allocation.
Although this bill does not add to the burden in any significant way-for example, you mentioned
the reciprocal nature between states-is there stress in the system at the moment in making sure that
people the subject of community-based sentences are adequately supervised? Is that always a
feature of the operation?
Mrs Townsend: I cannot answer that. I would have to speak to the various managers of the centres
to be able to answer that, but from what I am looking at, it looks like with the officers, yes, there are
issues regarding overwork or workload issues that are being worked out.
The CHAIRMAN: I asked the question because if we are assuming the responsibility for
supervising sentenced people from interstate and we do not have the resources to cover it, it makes
it difficult, but as we have already discussed, it is not a significant extra workload in the scheme of
things anyway.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: I have a similar question on the other bill. Which jurisdictions have
adopted this legislation already?
Mrs Townsend: The ACT and New South Wales are the two jurisdictions.
Hon SHEILA MILLS: Are there any plans, do you know, for the other ones?
Mrs Townsend: I think the other jurisdictions are considering.
The CHAIRMAN: I do not think we have any other questions. Do you have any other matters you
want to bring to our attention?
Mrs Townsend: I wish to clarify the information you asked for just now. You said you wanted
statistics for 12 months on people who were placed on orders and breached.

[10.30 am]
The CHAIRMAN: What we would like is some statistics that would give us an understanding of
the scale of the community-based sentence program overall, and in a way that is convenient.

For example, if you have the last calendar year or the last financial year, that would be a good
snapshot for our purposes.
Mrs Townsend: With a view to seeing the proportion being breached?
The CHAIRMAN: Being breached or, conversely, being satisfactorily completed. I appreciate that
to get up-to-date statistics and finalise statistics, it may be necessary to go back a year or two or
three, but it is just to give us an understanding of that. Of course, this is being recorded by Hansard
so what we have specifically asked for will be in your transcript. I think there was another matter.
Hon DONNA FARAGHER: In relation to consultation.
Mrs Townsend: With services or with other stakeholders for transferred people; yes.
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Hon DONNA FARAGHER: Consultation with other stakeholders such as service providers in
relation to the bill.
The CHAIRMAN: Did you have anything else you wanted to add or clarify, Ms Townsend?
Mrs Townsend: No, not really. Just to say that it is a good idea to have this bill passed. It will
allow for greater supervision of transferred offenders and basically enhance community safety.
The CHAIRMAN: I would like to thank you, and also Ms Kenworthy, for your assistance here this
morning. This hearing is now concluded. We wish you a good morning.
Hearing concluded at 10.31 am
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IDENTIFIED STRUCTURES FOR UNIFORM LEGISLATION
The former Legislative Assembly Standing Committee on Uniform Legislation and
Intergovernmental Agreements identified and classified nine legislative structures relevant to the
issue of uniformity in legislation which were endorsed by the 1996 Position Paper entitled Scrutiny
of National Schemes of Legislation. A brief description of each is provided below.
Structure 1:
Complementary Commonwealth-State or Co-operative Legislation.
The
Commonwealth passes legislation, and each State or Territory passes legislation which interlocks
with it and which is restricted in its operation to matters not falling within the Commonwealth’s
constitutional powers.
Structure 2:
Complementary or Mirror Legislation. For matters which involve dual,
overlapping, or uncertain division of constitutional powers, essentially identical legislation is
passed in each jurisdiction.
Structure 3:
Template, Co-operative, Applied or Adopted Complementary Legislation. Here a
jurisdiction enacts the main piece of legislation, with the other jurisdictions passing Acts which do
not replicate, but merely adopt that Act and subsequent amendments as their own.
Structure 4:
Referral of Power. The Commonwealth enacts national legislation following a
referral of relevant State power to it under section 51 (xxxvii) of the Australian Constitution.
Structure 5:
Alternative Consistent Legislation. Host legislation in one jurisdiction is utilised
by other jurisdictions which pass legislation stating that certain matters will be lawful in their own
jurisdictions if they would be lawful in the host jurisdiction. The non-host jurisdictions cleanse
their own statute books of provisions inconsistent with the pertinent host legislation.
Structure 6:
Mutual Recognition. Recognises the rules and regulations of other jurisdictions.
Mutual recognition of regulations enables goods or services to be traded across jurisdictions. For
example, if goods or services to be traded comply with the legislation in their jurisdiction of origin
they need not comply with inconsistent requirements otherwise operable in a second jurisdiction,
into which they are imported or sold.
Structure 7:
of uniformity.

Unilateralism. Each jurisdiction goes its own way. In effect, this is the antithesis

Structure 8:
Non-Binding National Standards Model. Each jurisdiction passes its own
legislation but a national authority is appointed to make decisions under that legislation. Such
decisions are, however, variable by the respective State or Territory Ministers.
Structure 9:
Adoptive Recognition. A jurisdiction may choose to recognise the decision
making process of another jurisdiction as meeting the requirements of its own legislation
regardless of whether this recognition is mutual.
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APPENDIX 3
FUNDAMENTAL LEGISLATIVE SCRUTINY PRINCIPLES
Does the legislation have sufficient regard to the rights and liberties of individuals?
1.

Are rights, freedoms or obligations, dependent on administrative power only if sufficiently
defined and subject to appropriate review?

2.

Is the Bill consistent with principles of natural justice?

3.

Does the Bill allow the delegation of administrative power only in appropriate cases and to
appropriate persons? Sections 44(8)(c) and (d) of the Interpretation Act 1984. The matters to
be dealt with by regulation should not contain matters that should be in the Act not
subsidiary legislation.

4.

Does the Bill reverse the onus of proof in criminal proceedings without adequate
justification?

5.

Does the Bill confer power to enter premises, and search for or seize documents or other
property, only with a warrant issued by a judge or other judicial officer?

6.

Does the Bill provide appropriate protection against self-incrimination?

7.

Does the Bill adversely affect rights and liberties, or impose obligations, retrospectively?

8.

Does the Bill confer immunity from proceeding or prosecution without adequate
justification?

9.

Does the Bill provide for the compulsory acquisition of property only with fair compensation?

10. Does the Bill have sufficient regard to Aboriginal tradition and Island custom?
11. Is the Bill unambiguous and drafted in a sufficiently clear and precise way?
Does the Bill have sufficient regard to the institution of Parliament?
12. Does the Bill allow the delegation of legislative power only in appropriate cases and to
appropriate persons?
13. Does the Bill sufficiently subject the exercise of a proposed delegated legislative power
(instrument) to the scrutiny of the Legislative Council?
14. Does the Bill allow or authorise the amendment of an Act only by another Act?
15. Does the Bill affect parliamentary privilege in any manner?
16. In relation to uniform legislation where the interaction between state and federal powers is
concerned: Does the scheme provide for the conduct of Commonwealth and State reviews
and, if so, are they tabled in State Parliament?
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